**RECEIVED**

**Jan 25 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001405

---

Linda C. Horne, ..... Appellant,

v.

Kelsey Rae Clapp, ..... Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Daniel W. Luginbill  
McGowan, Hood, Felder & Phillips, LLC  
10 Shem Drive, Suite 300  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
dluginbill@mcgowanhood.com

Jordan C. Calloway  
McGowan, Hood, Felder & Phillips, LLC  
1539 Health Care Drive  
Rock Hill, SC 29732  
(803) 327-7800  
jcalloway@mcgowanhood.com

David R. Blackwell

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the circuit court erred in submitting a verdict form that asked jurors whether the at-fault party in a rear-end collision caused the plaintiff “any” damages when the parties stipulated the plaintiff was entitled to \$ 1,055 for her collision-related chiropractor bills.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in denying a motion for new trial when the jury ignored the circuit court’s instructions and returned a zero verdict even though the defendant admitted in court that she was responsible for a portion of the plaintiff’s claimed losses.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Linda C. Horne filed this negligence/recklessness action against fellow motorist Kelsey Rae Clapp<sup>1</sup> arising out of a February 15, 2018, motor vehicle collision where Clapp's Honda Accord sedan struck Ms. Horne's Honda SUV from behind as she was stopped for traffic on Highway 521 in Lancaster County. (Compl. ¶ 3; Answer ¶ 3). Ms. Horne's August 15, 2020, complaint alleged the collision was caused by Clapp following too closely and failing to keep a proper lookout resulting in injuries to Ms. Horne's neck, back, and a sacral nerve stimulator device previously implanted in Ms. Horne to address incontinence issues. (Compl. ¶¶ 4-5). Clapp denied liability in her May 20, 2020 answer. (Answer ¶¶ 4-6).

Following discovery, the case was tried by a Lancaster County jury before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall on June 19-22, 2023. Clapp retreated from her liability denials prior to trial, and the parties reached a stipulation on most of the elements of Ms. Horne's negligence/recklessness claim which Clapp's attorney summarized to the jury in his opening statement:

we've stipulated, at least Kelsey stipulated that she was negligent causing the accident, and she -- and that that negligence was the cause for her to have -- for Ms. Horne to have about two and a half months of extra chiropractic treatment for problems of preexisting neck and back problems that Ms. Horne had, and that the expense of about \$ 1,055 was caused by her negligence.

(Tr. 61, lines 20-25). Clapp chose to enter the stipulation to limit the issues to be resolved and, in turn, to limit the type and amount of evidence Ms. Horne could introduce against her. (Tr. 68-70).

The trial proceeded with lay and expert testimony focused on which portion of Ms. Horne's claimed damages Clapp would be required to pay. The stipulation placed beyond dispute Clapp's responsibility for a series of chiropractic visits Ms. Horne had in the months following the

---

<sup>1</sup> Clapp is also referred to in the trial transcript by her married name Kelsey Partin. E.g. (Tr. 15, line 22).

collision. Clapp, through her counsel, acknowledged these expenses (totaling \$ 1,055) in announcing the stipulation during opening arguments. (Tr. 61, lines 20-25). Clapp’s closing argument also unambiguously stated Ms. Horne was entitled to \$ 1,055 for her chiropractic treatments. (Tr. 319, lines 8-9) (“the expenses for those treatments were \$ 1,055. In your award, include the \$ 1,055”).

On the last day of trial, the circuit court circulated a proposed verdict form that would ask the jury to address two prompts:

1. Was the defendant’s negligence the proximate cause of any of the plaintiff’s injuries

\_\_\_\_\_ Yes. If yes, proceed to question 2.

\_\_\_\_\_ No. If no, sign below and deliberate no further.

2. As a result of the defendant’s negligence, plaintiff suffered damages in the following amount:

\$ \_\_\_\_\_

(Verdict Form). Ms. Horne’s counsel objected to the proposed form based on the stipulation. (Tr. 267, lines 8-11). Ms. Horne argued Question No. 1 would be inappropriate because it would grant the jury the option of finding Clapp was not responsible for “any” of Ms. Horne’s alleged damages despite Clapp’s admission that she owed \$ 1,055 for chiropractor bills. Id. (arguing Clapp “stipulated to some damages. i.e. the chiropractor bill but not all economic or noneconomic damages”).

In support of the objection, Ms. Horne requested and received permission to submit an alternative proposed verdict form. (Tr. 268, line 23 – 269, line 1). To account for the stipulation and the parties’ dispute over the remaining damages claim, Ms. Horne’s proposal would have asked jurors to address a single prompt:

1. The Defendant’s admitted negligence was the proximate cause of the following damages:

Economic Damages: \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Non-Economic Damages:

Pain & Suffering: \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Loss of Enjoyment  
Of Life: \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Mental Suffering \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Apprehension \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Humiliation \$ \_\_\_\_\_

TOTAL DAMAGES \$ \_\_\_\_\_

Ms. Horne’s counsel argued this structure should be used because Clapp “admitted some” alleged damages were proximately caused by Clapp’s negligence “and some aren’t.” (Tr. 268, lines 12-14).

Ms. Horne’s objection was overruled, and the case proceeded to closing arguments during which attorneys for both parties told jurors Ms. Horne was entitled to at least \$ 1,055 in damages. (Tr. 289, lines 14-15; 319, lines 8-9). The circuit court then submitted the two-question verdict form to the jury after charging jurors that the stipulation was binding (Tr. 335, line 5) and that all of the stipulated facts must be treated as “conclusively proved.” (Tr. 335, line 10). Later that day (June 22, 2023), the jury returned a verdict answering “No” on Question No. 1. (Verdict Form). Pursuant to Rule 59(b), SCRCP, Ms. Horne’s counsel requested and received permission to take ten days to file post-trial motions. (Tr. 339, lines 22-23). Ms. Horne’s June 30, 2023, post-trial motions argued the stipulation and undisputed evidence of Ms. Horne’s chiropractor bills made the verdict form flawed as a matter of law and the jury’s verdict both legally invalid and plainly inconsistent with all evidence presented at trial. (Pla. Mot. for New Trial at 3-7).

The circuit court denied Ms. Horne’s post-trial motions without a hearing in a Form 4 order entered on July 26, 2023. (Order, entered July 26, 2023). Ms. Horne filed a motion to alter, amend, and reconsider on August 4, 2023, which was denied on August 24, 2023. (Pla. Mot. to Alter/Amend; Order, entered Aug. 24, 2023). Ms. Horne filed a timely notice of appeal on August 30, 2023. (Notice of Appeal).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court may grant a new trial following a jury verdict based on any reason for which a new trial has previously been granted in South Carolina legal actions. Rule 50(a), SCRPC. A defective verdict form and a verdict at odds with the evidence are both permissible grounds for a new trial. S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907-08 (2007) (citing 9A Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, Civil 2d § 2508, p. 193) (stating that a special verdict form question “may be so defective in its formulation that its submission results in a prejudicial effect which constitutes reversible error”); Ex Parte Travelers Home & Marine Ins. Co. v. Stringfellow, 427 S.C. 238, 245, 830 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ct. App. 2019) (“because it is obligated to see that justice is done,” a trial court is “duty-bound to grant a new trial if the evidence does not support the verdict”). The court may grant a new trial on the facts of a case by invoking the thirteenth juror doctrine if the evidence shows the jury’s verdict is “contrary to the fair preponderance of the evidence” or that “justice has not prevailed.” Sapp v. Wheeler, 4052 S.C. 502, 513, 741 S.E.2d 565, 571 (Ct. App. 2013); Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting R.C. McEntire v. Mooregard Exterminating Servs., Inc., 353 S.C. 629, 633, 578 S.E.2d 746, 748 (2003)). On appeal, the denial of a motion for new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion and will be reversed when “wholly unsupported by the

evidence, or [when] the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law.” Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 402, 477 S.E.2d 715, 722 (Ct. App. 1996).

### **ARGUMENT**

By the time the trial began, this auto accident litigation had become a damages case only. Clapp did not want jurors to know she was preoccupied with her cell phone when she ran into the back of Ms. Horne’s stopped car so she proposed a stipulation. The parties would agree Clapp’s unreasonable driving caused the collision and Ms. Horne incurred a sum certain amount of collision-related medical expenses (\$ 1,055) for chiropractic care. All that remained to try was the parties’ dispute as to whether the collision also interfered with the operation of a costly surgical implant Ms. Horne used to mitigate bowel and bladder control problems. Before the first witness was called and after the last piece of evidence was admitted, Clapp’s attorney told jurors Ms. Horne was entitled to \$ 1,055 in damages. (Tr. 61, lines 20-25); (Tr. 319, lines 8-9) (“the expenses for those treatments were \$ 1,055. In your award, include the \$ 1,055”). A zero damages verdict was not a viable outcome under the stipulation’s terms or in light of the evidence presented at trial.

Yet, the circuit court chose a verdict form that asked jurors to determine whether Clapp caused “any” of Ms. Horne’s losses over a form simply asking the jury to enumerate the collision-related damages. The defective verdict form gave jurors the option to find Ms. Horne suffered no collision-related losses—a conclusion foreclosed by the stipulation and Clapp’s in-court admissions. When the jury returned just such a verdict, the circuit court compounded its error by denying Ms. Horne’s motion for a new trial. In short, the circuit court abused its discretion by issuing rulings that disregarded the stipulation, embraced a verdict form out of step with the contested issues, and entered judgment on a verdict that disregarded the circuit court’s instructions

and that was at odds with undisputed evidence. This court should reverse those rulings and order a new trial.

**1. The verdict form posed an inaccurate, confusing question that presented the jury with an option foreclosed by stipulated facts and undisputed evidence.**

The circuit court erred by crafting a verdict form that did not align with the matters contested at trial. While the parties disputed whether *all* of Ms. Horne’s claimed damages were caused by Clapp’s admitted negligence, they agreed Clapp was responsible for *some* of Ms. Horne’s losses. A stipulation and multiple in-court admissions established Clapp’s responsibility for Ms. Horne’s chiropractic expenses (\$ 1,055), but the jury was still asked whether Clapp caused “any” of Ms. Horne’s injuries. The circuit court erred in submitting this inaccurate, confusing verdict form to the jury and in denying Ms. Horne’s related motion for a new trial.

While a trial court has discretion in formulating a verdict form, civil procedure rules and precedent impose some baseline parameters. Most importantly, the form must be targeted toward and limited to issues actually in dispute in the trial. The circuit court must restrict the jury’s options in a verdict form to “findings which might properly be made under the pleadings and evidence.” Rule 49(a), SCRPC. A verdict form must never give the jury the option of reaching an outcome at odds with facts admitted in the pleadings or in open court. Lorick & Lowrance v. Julius H. Walker & Co., 153 S.C. 309, 150 S.E. 789, 792 (1929) (“Facts admitted by the pleadings must not be contradicted by the verdict” and matters submitted to jury should be limited to “those facts distinctly affirmed on the one side and negated on the other”).

Additionally, the verdict form must pose questions in a clear, comprehensible way. Sulton v. HealthSouth Corp., 400 S.C. 412, 419, 734 S.E.2d 641, 645 (2012) (finding verdict form’s overall structure “confusing and prejudicial”). How a question is phrased matters, and the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized a verdict form question “may be so defective in its

formulation that its submission results in a prejudicial effect which constitutes reversible error.” S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007) (citing 9A Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, Civil 2d § 2508, p. 193)). A question is defective and prejudicial if “[a]mbiguous, biased, misleading, or confusing.” 9A Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, Civil 2d § 2508, p. 193 n. 12 (citing Mattson v. Schultz, 145 F.3d 937 (7th Cir. 1998)). Taken together, these rules are designed to ensure jurors are presented with only the dispute they have been summoned to resolve and in a manner permitting them to convey a coherent verdict grounded in the evidence they received. Cf. Uphoff Figueroa v. Alejandro, 597 F.3d 423, 434 (1st Cir. 2010) (holding that, while verdict form text is a discretionary matter, the form must “present the case fairly and accurately”); Bombardier Recreational Prods., Inc. v. Arctic Cat Inc., 331 F. Supp. 3d 902 (D. Minn. 2018) (quoting Chlopek v. Fed. Ins. Co., 499 F.3d 692, 701 (7th Cir. 2007) (to determine whether trial court abused its discretion, consider whether the selected verdict form “accurately, adequately, and clearly state[s] the relevant issues to be decided”)).

The verdict form the circuit court selected violated these rules. Prior to closing arguments, the circuit court presented counsel for both parties a proposed verdict form posing a preliminary question and a contingent secondary prompt. First, jurors would be asked, “Was [Clapp’s] negligence the proximate cause of *any* of [Ms. Horne’s] injuries?” (Verdict Form) (emphasis added). If the jury answered “Yes” to this question, it would then be required to address the following prompt: “As a result of [Clapp’s] negligence, [Ms. Horne] suffered damages in the following amount:” (Verdict Form). Structuring the verdict form in this manner assumed the matters in dispute at trial were (1) whether Clapp’s admitted negligence during the collision proximately caused Ms. Horne any loss; and (2) what portion of Ms. Horne’s claimed losses were

causally related to the collision. Ms. Horne's counsel objected and submitted a proposal asking jurors to address a single prompt: "[Clapp's] admitted negligence was the proximate cause of the following damages." (Pla. Proposed Verdict Form). This version would focus the jury on the task of identifying which of the claimed damages were proximately related to the collision without the unnecessary preliminary inquiry from the circuit court's proposal.

Rejecting Ms. Horne's version and submitting the circuit court's proposal to the jury was an error of law because whether Clapp's negligence during the collision proximately caused *any* of Ms. Horne's claimed damages was not a matter contested at trial. This matter was removed from the realm of disputed issues when, at Clapp counsel's urging, the parties entered a stipulation on key facts. A stipulation is an "agreement, admission or concession made in judicial proceedings by the parties" or their attorneys. Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 30, 507 S.E.2d 328, 337 (1998). Parties usually enter stipulations to make a trial more efficient by narrowing the issues and limiting the evidence each side must present. Greene v. Greene, 351 S.C. 329, 569 S.E.2d 393 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 1415 (6th ed 1990) (parties enter a stipulation to "obviate need for proof or to narrow [the] range of litigable issues"))).

Clapp's counsel presented the parties' stipulation during his opening statement:

we've stipulated, at least Kelsey stipulated that she was negligent causing the accident, and she -- and that that negligence was the cause for her to have -- for Ms. Horne to have about two and a half months of extra chiropractic treatment for problems of preexisting neck and back problems that Ms. Horne had, and that the expense of about \$ 1,055 was caused by her negligence.

(Tr. 61, lines 20-25). The stipulation ended the parties' dispute as to whether Clapp breached a legal duty and the dispute over portions of the proximate cause and damages elements of Ms. Horne's negligence claim. Through the stipulation, Clapp was conceding:

1. Her driving on February 15, 2018 fell below the standard of a reasonable driver under the circumstances;

2. Her poor driving caused a collision between her car and Ms. Horne's;
3. The collision she caused directly and proximately led Ms. Horne to obtain medical services from a chiropractor over a period of several months;
4. The agreed-upon cost of those medical services was \$ 1,055; and
5. Ms. Horne was entitled to recover \$ 1,055 from Clapp as part of her negligence claim.

Entering a stipulation has serious implications for the parties and the court. Belue v. Fetner, 251 S.C. 600, 606, 164 S.E.2d 753, 755 (1968) (“When counsel enter into an agreed stipulation of fact as a basis for decision by the court, both sides will be bound by such agreed stipulation, and the court will not go beyond such stipulation to determine the facts upon which the case is to be decided”). Neither the parties nor the court may go beyond the stipulation to determine the facts. Independent Grain Dealers Marketing Ass’n, Inc. v. Beard, 284 S.C. 309, 312, 326 S.E.2d 169, 171 (Ct. App. 1985); Am. Sur. Co. v. Hamrick Mills, 194 S.C. 221, 9 S.E.2d 433, 438 (1940) (“the stipulations cannot be ignored but must be regarded to the extent that they admit or deny the facts alleged in the complaint”).

That is not to say a stipulation is immutable. A party can attempt to abrogate a stipulation by either seeking written consent from other parties or asking the court to do so for good cause or in the interests of justice. Porter, 333 S.C. at 30-31, 507 S.E.2d at 337. However, a party is bound by a stipulation unless it asked for, and received, relief from its terms. Id. (citing Am. Sur. Co., 194 S.C. at 232, 9 S.E.2d at 438). Clapp never attempted to abrogate the stipulation published to the jury during her opening statement, and the causal connection between Clapp's poor driving and Ms. Horne's \$ 1,055 became an established fact. Am. Sur. Co., 9 S.E.2d at 438 (quoting Brown v. Pechman, 55 S.C. 555, 33 S.E. 732, 735 (1899) (“Where neither of the parties has even asked to be relieved from the terms of the stipulations which they have formerly entered into, they must be held still bound by their agreement to admit the facts stated in the agreement”). Accordingly, the verdict form's first question was contrary to South Carolina law because, by asking whether

Clapp caused “any” damages, this question disregarded the stipulated fact that Clapp caused Ms. Horne to incur \$ 1,055 in medical expenses.

Clapp has suggested that, despite the stipulation, events during the trial made her liability for Ms. Horne’s chiropractor bills a genuine question for the jury. (Def.’s Mem. in Opp. to Mtn. for New Trial at 3-5). However, Clapp’s trial conduct belies this argument. Clapp’s attorney did not just announce the stipulation during opening statements, he unreservedly reaffirmed it during his closing argument. Ms. Horne’s counsel had argued in his closing Ms. Horne’s entitlement to \$1,055 for the chiropractor expenses was undisputed. (Tr. 289, lines 14-15) (“The only part they do agree to is the \$ 1,055”). Clapp’s counsel did not object to that statement or refute it during his closing. Instead, Clapp’s attorney made the following argument to jurors:

We have stipulated that [Clapp] was negligent in causing the accident, and we’ve stipulated that that negligence caused [Ms. Horne] to have an injury to her back – her neck, and her back, and her arm, and it required her to go get treatment from the chiropractor, and that treatment went from four days after the accident [to] a little bit less than three months, two and a half months to the first of May, and the expenses for those treatments were \$ 1,055. **In your award, include the \$ 1,055.**

(Tr. 319, lines 1-9) (emphasis added). Nothing that happened during the substantive portion of the trial made Clapp any less sure that she was liable for Ms. Horne’s chiropractor bills and that she owed Ms. Horne \$ 1,055.

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