RECEIVED

May 28 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001405

Linda C. Horne,.....Appellant,

v.

Kelsey Rae Clapp,.....Respondent.

**RESPONDENT’S FINAL BRIEF**

Respectfully Submitted,

By: *s/ Todd Russell Flippin*

Todd Russell Flippin (S.C. Bar No. 101197)  
HOLCOMBE BOMAR, P.A.  
P.O. Box 1897  
Spartanburg, SC 29304  
(864) 594-5300  
tflippin@holcombebomar.com

Harold C. Spears (S.C. Bar No. 15469)  
Christopher P. Raab (S.C. Bar No. 79128)  
CAUDLE & SPEARS, P.A.  
121 W. Trade Street, Suite 2600

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

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL HER OBJECTIONS TO THE JURY’S VERDICT AND TO THE VERDICT FORM.**

If, as Horne argues, she was entitled to a damages award based on a stipulation, then she had several ways to ensure that outcome. First, she should have objected to the jury’s verdict prior to the jury’s dismissal. Second, she should have challenged the court’s jury instructions, which clearly left the issue of proximate causation of damages to the jury. Third, to the extent Horne believed that the evidence could support the sole outcome that Clapp was liable to her for certain damages, she should have moved for a directed verdict. Finally, Horne should have objected to the verdict form on the grounds that it allowed the jury to find that Clapp did not proximately cause any of Horne’s injuries. If Horne had taken any of those steps, she could have preserved her contentions for appeal. However, she did not and thus her appeal must fail. Instead, Horne asks this Court to reverse the trial court’s order denying her motion for a new trial and overturn the

jury's verdict under Rule 50(b) and the thirteenth juror doctrine. However, the court need not decide if Horne is entitled to new trial because she failed to preserve these issues for appeal.

**A. HORNE FAILED TO PRESERVE HER OBJECTIONS TO THE ALLEGEDLY INCONSISTENT VERDICT WHEN SHE FAILED TO CHALLENGE THE VERDICT PRIOR TO THE JURY'S DISMISSAL.**

When a jury returns a verdict that is wholly unsupported by the evidence,<sup>2</sup> the losing party must act swiftly to allow the trial court to address that outcome. This Court has directly instructed trial courts and practitioners on the correct "procedure to use to cure a facially inconsistent and ambiguous verdict." *Stevens v. Allen*, 336 S.C. 439, 451, 520 S.E.2d 625, 631 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd*, 342 S.C. 47, 536 S.E.2d 663 (2000). In *Stevens*, the jury answered a verdict form posing the following interrogatory: "Do you find that the defendant ... was negligent and that such negligence proximately caused [the decedent's] injuries?" *Id.* Despite answering "yes", the jury returned a "zero verdict." *Id.*, 336 S.C. at 448, 520 S.E.2d at 630. In such a case, the trial judge "should inform the jury that he cannot accept their verdict ... send them back for further deliberations, ... [and instruct the jury] to assess a definite dollar amount in damages." *Id.*, 336 S.C. at 451, 520 S.E.2d at 631.

The procedure set out in *Stevens* relied on two well-established principles. First, a "court cannot lawfully enter judgment on an inconsistent or incomplete verdict." *Stevens*, 336 S.C. at 451, 520 S.E.2d at 631 (quoting *Krepps by Krepps v. Ausen*, 324 S.C. 597, 609, 479 S.E.2d 290, 296 (Ct. App. 1996)). Second, the court "cannot cure this inconsistent and ambiguous verdict *sua sponte*." *Stevens*, 336 S.C. at 451, 520 S.E.2d at 631.

---

<sup>2</sup> As argued in Section II, the jury's verdict here was supported by substantial evidence showing that Horne's injuries were not proximately caused by Clapp's negligence.

For this latter point, this Court relied on the Supreme Court’s decision in *Smith v. Phillips*, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995). In *Smith*, which involved a dispute between adjoining landowners over water damage claims, the jury found the plaintiff was liable for nuisance but awarded him zero damages. Although neither party challenged this inconsistent verdict at trial, the Court of Appeals reversed concluding “that such a verdict imposed a duty on the trial judge to reject it and to reinstruct the jury.” *Smith*, 318 S.C. at 455, 458 S.E.2d at 429. The Supreme Court disagreed, reversed the Court of Appeals, and held “there is no duty imposed on the trial judge to question a jury’s verdict of liability, but no damages, unless requested to by a party.” *Stevens*, 336 S.C. at 451–52, 520 S.E.2d at 631 (quoting *Smith*, 318 S.C. at 455, 458 S.E.2d at 429).

Critically, the Court in *Stevens v. Allen* determined that the estate preserved for appeal its challenge to the inconsistent verdict because it “moved for a new trial absolute and a new trial nisi additur immediately after the verdict was read and accepted.” 336 S.C. at 454, 520 S.E.2d at 632 (emphasis supplied). The necessity of promptly raising an issue with the jury’s verdict is clear: the trial court must be notified so that, before they are dismissed, the jury can be charged again and returned to the jury room to deliberate further. Failure to act promptly is fatal to preserving the issue for appeal. As this Court recently noted, “[s]ome post-trial motions—such as those seeking to correct or clarify an inconsistent verdict—must for practical reasons be made before the jury is discharged, or they are forever lost.” *Ex parte Travelers Home & Marine Ins. Co. v. Stringfellow*, 427 S.C. 238, 242, 830 S.E.2d 718, 720 (Ct. App. 2019) (emphasis supplied); *Campbell v. Robinson*, 398 S.C. 12, 26, 726 S.E.2d 221, 229 (Ct. App. 2012) (“When a jury renders an inconsistent verdict, the only remedies available at that moment are to resubmit the case to the jury or grant a new trial absolute”). Post-trial motions under JNOV or thirteenth juror doctrine are simply not the appropriate procedure for correcting an allegedly inconsistent verdict.

The procedure dictated in *Stevens* was not a novel approach. This Court articulated the same standard in *Page v. Crisp*, 303 S.C. 117, 399 S.E.2d 161 (Ct. App. 1990). The jury in *Page* returned a zero verdict for the plaintiff-husband for a loss of consortium claim in an action consolidated with the plaintiff-wife's negligence action arising from a motor vehicle collision. *Id.*, 303 S.C. at 118, 399 S.E.2d at 162. The defendants admitted liability for the accident and the jury awarded the plaintiff-wife \$44,000 for her injuries. The same jury simultaneously returned a "zero dollar" verdict for the plaintiff-husband. After the verdict "was published, counsel requested the judge to send the jury back to the jury room with instructions to write a verdict in his favor." *Page*, 303 S.C. at 119, 399 S.E.2d at 162. On appeal, this Court reversed the trial court's refusal to so instruct the jury.

Horne argues that the jury's verdict was "legally invalid," "plainly inconsistent," in disregard of the court's instructions, and "not a viable outcome under the stipulation's terms or in light of the evidence presented at trial." (Brief of Appl., pp. 4 & 6). Of course, Horne believed this was the case as soon as the jury returned its verdict. Her remedy was to request the court re-instruct the jury before they were dismissed. Because she failed to raise this objection at that time, her arguments are not preserved for appeal.

**B. HORNE FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTIONS, WHICH DIRECTED THE JURY TO DETERMINE IF CLAPP CAUSED ANY OF HORNE'S INJURIES.**

Despite the style of Horne's arguments, she is unavoidably asserting that the court's jury instructions were inconsistent with the evidence and thus, in error. However,

No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection.

Rule 51, SCRPC. It cannot be disputed that the court instructed the jury that Clapp stipulated that her negligence caused the accident and charged the jury to determine whether the accident proximately caused any of Horne's injuries. The court's instruction to the jury was no surprise<sup>3</sup> to Horne.

At the conclusion of Horne's case in chief, the court advised counsel that he would send a copy of the proposed jury charges by email over the lunch break. (R. pp. 274-75; R. p. 422; R. p. 354; R. p. 423). During the charge conference, the court and counsel first discussed the jury charge and addressed the effect of the stipulation on the jury's role. During that discussion, Clapp's counsel stated:

MR. SPEARS: Your Honor, on the negligence charge, it is stipulated that the defendant's negligence proximately caused the accident, and so what I would suggest would be the first sentence of the negligence charge, plaintiff claims that the defendant was negligent and should be compensated for the injuries plaintiff has suffered as a result of the defendant's negligence, and stop there, because they don't have to prove negligence. And so you can take out that second sentence in the first paragraph, and take out the next three paragraphs, and then where you pick back up you say the defendant has stipulated to her negligence in the case. And then the rest of that charge stays the same.

(R. p. 276, line 21 – p. 277, line 8).

The court and counsel subsequently had the following exchange about the jury charge:

THE COURT: Well, I think your position is you want to communicate to the jury that this is one thing that the defendant has agreed to without any objection to anybody else, and it was the defendant's stipulation. That may -- that's your position, but I think the correct -- the law is both have to -- a stipulation is an agreement between both and I'm going to leave it like it is, that the defendant and plaintiff have stipulated, but I don't have any problem with deleting where Mr. Spears has indicated we need to delete. Does that make sense to you?

---

<sup>3</sup> Even if she hadn't participated in crafting the jury instructions, she could have raised this objection after the jury was charged. *Hennes v. Shaw*, 397 S.C. 391, 397, 725 S.E.2d 501, 505 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding the appellant's objection to a charge inconsistent with the pleadings timely when, as soon as the jury exited the courtroom, counsel objected to the jury charge).

MR. LUGINBILL: Yes, sir.

MR. SPEARS: And then I think that eliminates the need for on the next page the driver's duty of care, duty to keep a proper lookout, duty to keep the vehicle under control could all be removed.

THE COURT: I agree with that. Do you agree with that?

MR. LUGINBILL: Yes.

(R. p. 278, lines 2-18).

Based on that discussion, the court revised its proposed charges<sup>4</sup> on negligence as follows.

### NEGLIGENCE

~~The plaintiff claims that the defendant was negligent and should compensate the plaintiff for the injuries the plaintiff suffered as a result of the defendant's negligence. In order to prove that the defendant was negligent, the plaintiff must prove by a preponderance, or greater weight, of the evidence the following things.~~

~~First, the plaintiff must prove by a preponderance, or greater weight, of the evidence that the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care. This is a question of law which I will decide.~~

~~If I find there was a duty of care, you must then decide the remaining questions. The first of these is whether the plaintiff has proven by a preponderance, or greater weight, of the evidence that the defendant breached the duty of care by a negligent act or omission.~~

~~Negligence means that a person has done something that a reasonable person would not have done or has failed to do something that a reasonable person would have done in the same situation.~~

The defendant and plaintiff have stipulated to defendant's negligence in this case.

The plaintiff must also prove by a preponderance, or greater weight, of the evidence that he [she] suffered damages as a result of the defendant's breach of duty.

Finally, the plaintiff must prove by a preponderance, or greater weight, of the evidence that the damages were proximately caused by the defendant's breach of duty.

---

<sup>4</sup> Changes to the court's proposed jury instructions proposed by Clapp's counsel, and agreed to by the court, are stricken out.

Proximate cause is something that produces a natural chain of events which, in the end, brings about the injury. It is the direct cause of the injury.

To prove that the defendant's negligence proximately caused the plaintiff's injury, the plaintiff must first prove causation in fact. This is proven by showing that the injury would not have occurred but for the defendant's negligence.

The plaintiff must also prove legal cause. Legal cause is proven by showing that the injury was foreseeable. This means that the injury occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant's negligence. The plaintiff must prove that some injury from the defendant's negligence was foreseeable, but does not have to prove that the particular injury that occurred was foreseeable. However, the defendant cannot be held responsible for things which could not be expected to happen.

Proximate cause does not mean the only cause. The defendant's act can be a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury if it was at least one of the direct, concurring causes of the injury.

Counsel for Horne clearly agreed to these changes to the jury instruction. (R. p. 278, lines 18-19). After some further discussion, the court stated:

THE COURT: All right. I think we're all on the same page with the charge. How about the verdict form?

(R. p. 279, lines 11-12).

What remained in the jury charge, without objection from Horne, was the proximate causation portion of the negligence formula.<sup>5</sup> The court further charged that "If you decide that the plaintiff is entitled to a verdict, your next step would be to decide how much money the defendant should be required to pay." (R. p. 345, lines 5-7) (emphasis supplied).

It is clear from the jury instruction that the court charged the jury to determine if Horne was entitled to any award for damages whatsoever. The court never instructed the jury to award

---

<sup>5</sup> The court later explained its rationale for including the proximate cause charge by stating that "the jury still has to take the evidence that has been presented to them." (R. p. 280, line 21 – p. 281, line 9).

Horne damages for her chiropractic treatment nor did it charge the jury to award the \$1,055 for her chiropractic bills. Of course, Horne never asked the court to so instruct the jury. Horne therefore failed to preserve any objection to the court's jury instructions.

**C. HORNE FAILED TO PRESERVE HER OBJECTIONS TO THE VERDICT FORM BECAUSE HER ARGUMENTS AT TRIAL, AND HER PROPOSED VERDICT FORM, DID NOT RAISE THE SAME ISSUES ARGUED ON APPEAL.**

**1. Horne Argued at Trial for a Verdict Form Distinguishing Categories of Noneconomic Damages, but Left Unchallenged the Form's Proximate Causation Query.**

Appellant argues that she objected to the court's verdict form because it risked the jury "finding Clapp was not responsible for 'any' of Ms. Horne's alleged damages despite" the stipulation. (Brief of Appl., p. 3). However, the transcript tells a different tale. The "inconsistent" outcome Appellant identified to the trial court related only to the jury's allocation of any monetary award among categories of noneconomic damages. As she argued to the trial court, Appellant's purpose in offering an alternative verdict form was to "separate out economic and noneconomic damages" in light of the "38 noneconomic damages that South Carolina law acknowledges." (R. pp. 279-280). Noting Horne's objection, the court ruled that it would not ask "for the jury to figure out on a verdict form what noneconomic and economic damages are." (R. p. 282). However, at no point during the charge conference did Horne object to or obtain a ruling regarding the court's proposed proximate cause issue. Horne therefore waived any objections she may have had to the form's language asking the jury to determine if Clapp proximately caused Horne's injuries. *S.C. DOT v. First Carolina Corp.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (to preserve an issue on appeal, it must be raised with sufficient specificity before the trial court and a ruling obtained); *Murray v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 354 S.C. 337, 347, 580 S.E.2d 194, 199 (Ct. App. 2003)

(issue not preserved if party argues one ground when objecting at trial and a different ground on appeal).

After the parties agreed to the jury charges, the court heard arguments on the verdict form, which was also provided to counsel by email. The verdict form initially proposed by the court asked the jury to address three issues:

1. With regards to the automobile collision involving the plaintiff and defendant, was the defendant negligent?

\_\_\_\_\_ Yes. If yes, proceed to question 2.

Plaintiff and Defendant have stipulated to Defendant's negligence.

2. Was the defendant's negligence the proximate cause of any of the plaintiff's injuries?

\_\_\_\_\_ Yes. If yes, proceed to question 3.

\_\_\_\_\_ No. If no, sign below and deliberate no further.

3. As a result of the defendant's negligence, plaintiff suffered damages in the following amount:

\$ \_\_\_\_\_.

(R. p. 423).

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